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with this special issue on Villifications and Tirades, your editor strides briskly into
the quicksand, The hobby has always attracted people with large egos, sharp pens, aggresive
and touchy personalitiess The structure of Postal Diplomacy itself, with stabs, and dropouts
and most importantly, greatly differing standards on what is proper beha vior lends itself
to disputes that the large egos will not just let be, and the sharp pens exacerbate, These
feuds, I hasten to remind our newcomers, have long been considered an entirely proper and
entertaining aspect of the hobby, and were sometimes carried out by persons who were other-
wise close personal friends and game-allies,

While many of the items herein concern matters long dead, two are of some sensitivity,
« or at least potentially so, ‘The first is my own article, the only nonereprinted material in

this issue, It concerns my relations with the editor of Ruritania, and I urge any of the
publishers who are considering advertising advertising Watson's game openings to take it
into consideration, The other is a vitriolic exchange of letters centering around Gary
Behnen. Altho this dispute is close to three years old by now, several of the principles
are still active in postal Diplomacy and indeed two of them started in the current Hoosler
Archives demo game, In this regard I want to make a correction., Schlickbernd!s address
(6194 East 6th St., Long Beach Calif 90803) was not given there, as is my custom when an
editor is no longer publishing.However, I see that he is now publishing a subzine to
Claw & Fang, and plans to open a section of postal "Machiavelli", & dippy=~like game availe
able from Battleline,.

Although [ attempted to get some balance into this issue, I did not really succceed,
Many of the disputes are quite long, and I did not want to shorten them substantially. This
length is partially due to the fact that villifiersare often rather prolix, and partially
because they often engender numerous responses, I have included with pleasure Mp Magxar's
excerpt, as he shows a rather atypical response to criticism, actually admitting errors.
I am especially anxious for reader reaction to this issue, It is the first one to have
absolutely nothing in the play-of-the-game catagory, Altho the issue is a fatso 21% pages
(the two-oz limit for the weight paper used by my printer) I still have plenty of material
left over on this subjects If it proves popular, this type of issue can become an annual
affaire Would you like that?? ’

On the last issue, I must apologize for the printing., At the last minute, my printer
took {11, and my choice was to delay it 3 weeks until I came back from England, or get it
done via Xeroxe [ chose the latter., Also: [ have had a good response to my request for
opinions from GMs on the rules conflict set out on page 5 (Don Horton has even added a HR
to cover the situation), and pubbers have come down on both sides of the question., The
next issue will contain an article quoting opinions, so if you have some, get them in soon,
Finally, I'd like to thank the editors of Runestone, The Diplomacy Journal, LILAF, Brutus
Bullitin, and The Mixumaxu Gazette for their kind words on my behalf,




A LOOK AT AN UNPRINCIPLED GM: TONY WATSON
by Mark L Berch -

_ The only unprincipled GM it has ever been my misfortune to run across has been Tony
Watson, the GM and editor of Ruritania. I base this conclusion on three game disputes
with him, and one preliminary incident. In addition, he exhibits a carelessness in GMing
which, in my opinion, borders on contempt for the interests of the players,

My sub to Ruritania began with #29, which printed the Spring 03 moves for game
19751J, including three NMR's. Attached was a copy of Kolwynia #4 with a correction on
the game: All three NMR's had been caused by misplaced orders, and the corrected game was
published. In #30, a game delay occurred because of a GMing error, In addition, I was
asked to stand by for Russia in that game, In addition, a note was written on the zine,
stating that my sub account was zero because my check never arrived, and that I'd better
send some money.

I wrote back a letter, including a Xerox of my cancelled check. I also had a series
of questions about the 19751J game, There were two apparent errors in the spring moves
and the error correction in #30 referred to a none-existant fleet, As I did not have the
winter 02 positions, I could not be sure what the correct version of these inconsistancies
was. In addition, I had several other questions about the history of the game, The board
was three units short -- was this missed builds, unsiezed neutrals or unprinted units? The
ownership of several S.C.'s was unclear, and I did not want to pounce on something in a
fall move which I already ownede I also included a few other items, such as a request for
addresses, a request to purchase back issues (to clear up 19751J), and a note that contrary
to what appeared in #30, an Austrian army in Ser could not be dislodged by a T-R attack
in 1901,
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Tony's reply was prompt and abrupt., He sent me back a check and cancelled my sub, I
was stunned, really stunned, I searched the letter I had written him «-- the only thing I
could see was that maybe I had asked too many questions. I don't like to have such things
unresolved, so I phoned him up to get the reason., He told me that the reason was that he
didn't like my "sarcastic" remark about being trusting and generous. I1'11 read it to you:
" w1, On the front of the issue, you state that my cheque never arrived, that I have
no deposit and that my account is zero (You are very generous and trusting activa-
ting a subscription with no § in Hand), Enclosed you will findesseee™ .
You can decide for yourself if that's sarcastice It was not intended as such and [ assure
you that around here your sub to DIPLOMACY DIGEST begins when I receive your $, not before,
Anyhow, that got striightened out, and I asked him about the other material in the letter
about the game, He said he'd send me the addresses (which he did) but that he "Can't be
bothered"with the rest of the questions. Imagine, I'm calling him Virginia to Nevada to
get info on a game in which If've been asked to standby, and he can't be bothered, At any
rate, #31 noted that he had standby orders from me but announced another game delay, because
amoung other things -« you guessed it =< he had "misplaced" one set of orders,

I mention this preliminary incident not because I was in some way harmed (except for
the phone bill, which was my doinjg)sbut because it forshadows much of what comes later: Lost
items , a general disinterest in the needs of the players, sloppy GMing and & hair trigger
temper, Alas, I'd have been better off if I'd stayed out,

The first game dispute began with the publication of Ruritania #34 and the Spring 04
moves in 19751J. There was a big gap in the printed orders and my Russian A Ank-Con was
missing. I wrote him immediately, and he writes back that it is my fault, What had hap=
pened was that in #33, after the builds, he had written a "has" list for each country. He
had omitted A Ank, A Bul of mine, and A Pie of the French, For some reason, he selected
only A Ank and disbanded it, I had not pointed out the error (in #33) before the publica-

tion of #34 and hence was too late,
me
This I vigourously protested. His House Rule requiredjonly to report an error in

an"adjudication", The thas list could not possibly be considered an adjudcation, as it
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was merely a summary of the board situation, Furthermore, even if I had been required to

do something, all his HR required was that I bring the error to the "attention" of the GM.
It seemed to me that by ordering the unit to move that ] was certainly bringing it to his
attention, The fact that this procedure had worked was evidenced by the fact that 1) The
move for A Bul was printed and 2) the move for A Ank was noticed and typed, even tho he
later removed.it, Finally, I do not see how the game could be helped by disbanding a unit
that anyone who saw the fall moves would know existed, [ algo wrote to the Ombudsman for
advice. While the HR's for Ruritanja make it clear that the GM's decision is final, 1f

the ombudsman felt that I was wrong on this, I wanted to drop the matter as soon as possible,
He wrote back that there was no need for me to specifically point out the error, as it could
not be considered an adjudication, Tony was unpersuaded and decided to put this to a

player vote (something which he did not have to do), But he remained very touchy about this,
as evidenced by the following from a letter to me (4-18-77) in which he complained about

my writing to the ombudsmani"If I find that this going to a hassle [Fhat'a how he put 1t

I'm just going to go the easy way and forget the vote and play things as they are, I have
more things to do than screw with these Diplomacy games." 1 agreedto the vote, and sald
that once the vote was put, I would send to the players a Xerox of my letter to Tony saying
why ] felt he was mistaken, my letter to the Ombudsman and his reply, This Tony agreed to,
but he found a way to foil that, He set an extremely short deadline for the vote, 10 days
after the postmark date on the zine. put it turned out badly, because of One other thing.

All players were also required to resubmit their Pall orders, even if they were unchanged.
The English player, who'd been having trouble with his mail due to a military-type address,.
received the zine the day after the shortened due date. He wrote back to Tony asking that
his orders that he had sent in previously be usedys After all, he was only a three center
England, hardly to be affected by events in Turkey. And setting a move dealline of 10 days
from the mailing date seems hardly fair., Nor was it necessary, as Tony had moves for him,
Tony refused, and NMRed him, and the player, the last original player of the game, quit in
disgust in 1904, The next to the last original player had resigned because of disgust with
all the game delays. As there was no vote from the English player, A Ank was left disbanded,
Further, even if I had won the vote (which Tony wrote me that he hoped I would) Tony stated
that he still would not allow the move A Ank-Con.

The second dispute erupted in #37, which had the Fall 190l moves in 1977FH, in which
I was the German player, [ was listed as having NMRed, The following appeared:
" As for Mr. Berch I can offer only the following, [ seem to remember some orders
typed along the margins of a personal note to me. I'm not sure if they were for
this game or 1J. In any case, The personal letter went in a different pile and after
noting was discardeds This is why I ask that all orders be submitted on sepatate
sheets from other material.™

My moves for 1975]J were in fact printed. He also asked for a standby for Germany,
lhpoint of facty, I had written a personal letter, but the orders were typed at the end,
clearly labeled by game, in their own paragraph, etc, followed by my signature and date,
Tony Watson had come up with a rule, ap’hcd it retroactively and forced me to NMRe I say
this because of the following:

l¢ There is no such rule in the HR's of Ruritania. None, There is a rule requiring
that separate games be on separate sheets, and ['ve always followed that to the letter,

2 He has never mentioned such a requirement in Ruritania, Indeed, he even strongly
implied that there is none., In #24 he has an entire article, running 14 lines,entitled
"How to Submit Orders's No mention of this requirement is given,

3. I have put orders on the same sheet-as personal letters in the past, and Tony
never mentioned it, or objected to this, My Fall 04 Orders in 19751J included a good sized
letter,

4, He implies that the policy is a new one by using the present tense "I ask", not
"] asked", A small point but consistant with the above,

1 wrote Tony back, sending 1) My orders for 1975IJ 2) My resignation from 1977FH

3) a letter explaing why I was resigning =~ all on separate sheets, of course., [ made the
above points. I wondered why all the other games that had lost orders had game deafys. I
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had no intereast in a long dispute, nor did I see any way of rectifying Tony's error,

as the Fall Ol moves were already printed. I said that if he wanted to run 1977FH

that way, fine, but it would be done without me, I also told him that I was notifying

the other players of my resignation, and also the appointed standby, sothat they could !
begin negotiations as soon as possible.

I want to dispose of one possible argument that might be raised in Tony's behalf,
Perhaps he has a policy of just wanting to avoid delays at any cost, and he couldn't
afford a phone call to me to get the orders, At that time I had received nine issues,
with about 4 or 5 games in each, and there had been seven games delays already, including
for reasons such as an insufficiant number of orders received. Indeed, in that very issue
1976 BK had been delayed because =-- try not to be surprised -- the Italian orders were
accidently thrown away,

I thought that that would be the end of it, but Tony precipitated a third dispute
immediately, I received a postcard from him (8«8+77), In it he placed the blame squarely
on me, This surprised me, as in the 1975]1J dispute he admitted that he had erred and had
apologized, But then came the kicker. My postion in 197517 was at stake, Tony demanded
that in order to stay in 1975IJ I would have to 1) submit orders for 1977FH AND ALSO
2) submit an apologye. If I did not agree to both, he would remove me from 19751J. This
presented a real dilemma, My Russia had grown rapidly and I had a near certain win, I
had not resigned from that game because of this, and also because [ could see no reason
to affect even more people by a dispute that had abgsolutely nothing to do with them or
their game, One game was already marred; why make it two? Further, he didn't specify
what 1 was to apologlize for == for resigning? The letter? For putting the moves on the
same sheet as a personal letter? Not only that, but I could see no way of jumping back
into a game after ]I had told the others that ] was out, They might very well have made
their builds on the basis on promises made by the new German player. They had every right
to rely on what I had said, Clearly another phone call was in order,

Tony was initially hostile and I had to persuade him to even speak to me, But quickly
we got to the point: Why did I have to resign from 19751J? Because, Tony said, I have. a
rule that if you resign from one game, you must resign from them all, No, he admitted, it
wasn't in the HR's 4 No, he never had mentioned it in the zine (Does this begin to sound
familiar?) But it was his rule, period, At one point, he let slip a most revealing point,
He said «= and this 1s pretty close to his exact words «= "] had to kiss your ass on that
other thing and I'11 be dammed if I'm going to do it again',  We went 'round and'round, I
asked him about the apology, thinking perhaps I could get by with just that, altho it really
bugged me that I'd have to apologize in order to stay in a postal diplomacy game, But [
couldn't get anything specific out of him, other than my "attitude', My attitude toward
what, I pressed, '"'"You know what I'm talking about" he said, But I got nowhere, 1 said
that he had no right to hold me to rules that I was not informed of, He said he's the GM
and can run things anyway he wants, 1 think you can get the picture,

So it was with a feeling of impending doom that I opening #38, a mere 5 weeks late,
Sure enuf, ! had been removed from 19751J, But the incredible sloppiness of Watson's -
style continued, In 19751J =«Iknow this is getting repetitive =« the Italian orders were
loste In 1977FH he didn't have the decency to state that I had resigned. He just printed
the new player's name, making it appear that I had dropped out, which I absoclutely do not
dos I'l1l have to inform the BNC so that this matter is corrected, One other thing. In
#37, in 19751J he announced that"we played 1904 twice", and so it was not 1905 but 1906,
This was in error and I told him so(W 03«#33; Sp 04-#34; Fall 04 never appeared in a Ruri
tavia, WO4=#36& Sp 05«37) but that means nothing to him; #38 labeled the season as calling
for Fall 06 orders, and just for good measure, in #39 he called for Winter 07 and Spring
08 orders. More work for the BNC.

There's one point that I want to emphasize very strongly here, I ran afoul of three
of Watson's rules: That the winter“"has'"lists count as adjudications, that moves must be on
separate shects from personal letters, and that if you resign from one game, then you must
resign from them all. All of these rules are clearly within the ambit of the GM's authority,
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((One of the most intensely villified personalities in all of Diplomacy history is Charles
Reinsel, the target of the following., This did not appear in a zine per se, but as a special
publication, It congisted of Conrad's letter, followed by a copy of Reinsel’s letter, !
While this order is understandible, it makes a lot more sense to start with what came first,
viz, Reinsel's letter, the date for which is unclear, and the source of which is unstated,
but is presumed to be Big Brother, Reinsel's zine.)))

The Second Answer to the Paranoid of 1530% Dale Street

We of BB 13, 14, 15, and 16 (( Reinsel does not use Boardman numbers)) are now being
subjected to the pink toilet paper issues of the sick rantings and ravings and frothings of
the mouth of the head 'Liar' of Costaliar! ((Von Metzke's zine was named Costaguana)))

Conrad had a duplicator =I do not., Conrad can type with all of his fingers - I use one
and it gets mighty tired. ((I use two. c¢vm)) Conrad works in the P,O., ((Old name for the
US Postal service))) so he can mail out his stuff a lot faster and easier, Conrad will use
hours of his time, thousands of words, hundreds of stamps and reams of paper to say BIG
BROTHER IS NO GOOD! Well I don't publish magazines for queers, I don't have a queer come
into my house. I don't even shake hands with onel

In Costaguana Vol six number 11 (24 Maxch 73) Circulation lll; Page three Luxor,
Conrad states, is'a Diplomacy zine geared to the homophile community" Conrad also states
"Both Rod ((Walker))) and I know the real identity of Luxor's perpetrator,™ Conrad also says
s "Aunt Clio is the pseudonymous editor of Luxor." Conrad later states, '"For my (von
Metzke's) part, I will have no part of people who try to ascribe authorship of LuXor to
any individual in print, I RUN THE THING OFF, AND TO THAT EXTENT YOU CAN LINK MY NAME,"

In Costaguana Vol six Number twelvees,.circulation 115,..(18 April 1973)at.the bottom
of the front page Conrad states: I quote, "Personal Life: Aren't you creepies getting sick
of my personal problems? I certainly am, However, I think they're settled for good now;
I just filed formal divorce papers,"

In Rename #7 Circulation 30 (21 April 1973) , published by Grendel Press, Box 8342
San Dlego Calif 92102 pg 5 Conrad states:; "[ts about time I mentioned a new reg. zine called
LUXOReeoLuxor is just a bit exoticeeeIt is specifically directed toward the homophile comune
tty within our ranks..e(Conrad vomtinues)a.sample can be obtained from me for free. You
need not be gay but ought to be sympatico" £nd of Quotes, These are not smears, These are
facts. These were all direct quotes from Conrad's zines he runs off and mails, Can't you
understand that anyone who has anything to do with this is not going to play in our zine!

Hal Naus wrote me a letter dated 23 April, He is very angry at Conrad's accusal of
cheating, This is the first he has heard of it, Well Conrad is a nice person ((Sic?))
I NEVER TOLD HIM IN FRONT OF CONRAD OR ANYONE ELSE THAT HE WAS A CHEAT. HAL KNOWS THIS. I
KNOW THIS. Yet CONRAD twice puts this in print and mails it out, (12 April and 25 April,)
HAL should floor Conrad on the spot for such a LIE, Please no one should believe this, I DONT,

On pge. & of the 25th Apr. shitpaper - Conrad states that prior to 12 April he had not
know of my change of address until he received moves from me. Funny that BB #345 which he
received in 3 or 4 days at the latest was sent out 6 April, amd has said address at top!

Pg. 3. Rod never told me that Rod had refused to sell his English Diplomacy set. Con-
rad has in fact twice changed his moves in San Diego after reading Heuer's postcard, I in-
formed Heuer eof this, One time Heugp~ said at the bottom of card that was forwarded, Conrad
its allright if you read this, Conrad did, changed his moves and stabbed Heuer! Oh, this
is real ethics, This was one of the reasons I got so mad at Conrad!

RE: Costaliar #6 again, pg 15 Quote: "I know it violates my houserules and my policy.
as stated last issue, I couldn't care less,” This is the same man that has admitted in print
different time that he accepted moves after d:adlines have passed. So he can't spout "house
rules" or ethics to anyone,
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On Page 6 of his latest; he says that he never effected my entry into a game without
my knowledge, [ still have the phone game letter by James Kolvek he put me into a game as
France, He was Austria, Naus was Italy. etc. PROOF: He asked me and I payed him $3,00
for ARRAKIS 1972-EM he said he sent my name in for, Also ANSCHLUSS 19731 I still have #9
Dec 7, 1972 pg. 9 “Not only that but a 7th player has been dragged up for(our)game" & pg
10" #7, Charles Reimsel, (San Diego add, I didn't know Joe and only Conrad gave it to him.)
"$=1'd like to receive game fees from those whose names are marked with a $" joa and more
(@sic?)) a handwritten message bottom left of address, "C., von Metzke indicates you'd like
to play DIPLOMACY = right?- (signed) Joe ((( Anstiok, editor of ANSCHLUSS))" You see Conrad

I can proove most of ny statements!

Do you Conrad think I would call you a liar if I couldn't prove it somehow? Not me,
Edi sent me (Birsan) postcard PH 24 April. No movese This is his third miss. He's out
of the game, Had he sent moves I would have accepted his resignation, Rule #l4 applies
here, I repeat! I f you eat shit JOIN Conrad, If not, stay with us, AND WE LIKE GIRLS!
ALSO TRUTH!

((Reprinted verbatim by C. von Metzke, except format slightly condensed, Text, however, is
unexpurgated)) (( what follows is Conrad's rejoinder))).

TO: All players in the BIG BROTHER Dipldamcy games.

Gentlemen,

You will recall having heard from me before, I return for what I expect will be the
last time, and again respectfully request a few minutes of your attention to a matter of
great impertance to our hobby, (One of the reasonsthat this will be my last intrusion
is that [ can only get away with that lead-on so many times!) You will kindly excuse the
paper; I am temporarily out of pinke However, | suspect that cowardice ‘will serve quite
as well as socialismecececcos

My defence will, this time, be far shorter, mercifully enough, 1[I intend to deal with
the homosexuality issue last; for the rest, let me say as follows (((Slow getting started,
isn't he? Notice how he uses as different a style from Charles as possible)):

l, The subject of Harold Naus being a cheater is a difficult one to consider, Charles
is right; Hal is upset, As with most people, he prefers to be called a cheat to his face,
Charles Reinsel is emphatically not guilty of calling Hal a cheat to Hal's face; he did so
to me, behind Hal's backe If you will read Charles' paragraph with rapt attention to dovae
fous semantics, you will note that this is not denied, (D,re I suggest it is tacitly ade
mitted?) Charles is also correct that Harold is upset for other reasons, His upset, in
fact, has been translated into a resignation from BBl3 in protest of my expulsion,

And Harold is upset on one other level; he does not much like being dragged into the
middle of an issue that is basically not relevant, On this [ am the guilty party, and I
am particularly at fault for mentioning Charles' accusations of cheating without also noting
that such accusations are themselves false, Harold is as honest a pepson as [ care to know;
his resignation bore no relationship to the issue of cheating ( and was communicated to me
long before said issue arose), and thus the latter has no place in this discussion, My sole
emn apoligies to Hal and to the rest of you; I shall not discuss this matter again,

2, Charles askswhy I claim not to have known of his Florida address until 12 April,
when in fact I was notified on the 6th, said notice to have arrived"in 3 or &4 days at the
tatest,”" Credit our glorious USPS for another coup d'etat; the said notice of the 6th ar-
rived here on the l2th, as I previously stated; as a matter of fact, it was in the same en=
velope with the moves mentionedby Charles.

3. Rod Walker didn't tell Charles that Rod wouldn't sell his British Diplomacy set to
Charles. (How's that for rhetoric?) Rod told me, and I told Charles - about eleven seconds
later, since Charlie was leaning over my shoulder while I talked on the phone,
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4, "“Conrad has in fact twice changed his moves in San Diego after readihg Heuer's
postcard," [ deny the charge. If I am not mistaken, Charles saves all moves submitted in
a game until the conclusion of said game, Therefore I suggest he prove his charges, with
his customary facts and figures and suchlike, Until such proof is submitted ~- and remember,
I am denying the charge in the first place, so I don't anticipate losing the round -- 1 call
Charles Reinsel down as a liar,

If I am mistaken, and Charles does not save all moves, then I have propounded a specious
argument, At which point we revert to the brick wall syndrone, where Charlie calls me names
and I reply in kind., As Mike Lind pointed out in a recent letter to me, many of these matters
resolve down precisely to that level, devoid of documentary proof, It is therefore most un-
fortunate that charges unsupported by . evidence should be bandied about in the
first place, May I commend to your attention the recollection of who is bandying and who is
defending? (( Ah, since you ralsed the point, Conrad, you too are a bandier, having decided
to "call,down" Reinsel as a liar in the previous paragraph without even stating that you had
evidence, much less proferring it.)).

5. There is next a mention of a statement of mine admitting a violation of my house
rules, This is a specific case involving a game unrelated to the current matter, in which
Reinsel is not involved. In the interests of Space, I will be happy to discuss the issue
with any interested party, individually. As for accepting late moves, [ have done, up until
1669, [ still do in cases of postal failure or demonstratrable emergency. As it happens,
this does not violate my houserules in the slightest,

6. The rest of this letter = with the return to the homophile question to come - can
be dealt with quickly, To quote Mr, Reinsel, "You see, Conrad, I can proove (sic) most of
my statements',

Oh? You have proved, for example that [ stuck you in games without your consent? No,
no, Charlie, what you've proved is that [ stuck you in games without the Gamesmaters® know=
ledge of your consent. There is something of a difference, you knows [ repeat my conten=-
tion; any game in which you were inserted as a player by me was joined with your consent,
as per your blankecheque request that I find you a bunch of games to join,((What an odd
request! Can people be so busy that they delegate the task of having themselves entered into
games to other people?)) (By the way, you left out Circle Trigon and En Passant - the re-
cently completed one,) And as to who paid fees to whom, Joseph Antosiak's ((Boy, I sure man-
gled that earlier)) address 1S.....Ask him who paid how many fees for whoms, John Leeder can
be written at,..and the same question may be asked of him, If their memories fail, 10¢
pays for a Xerox of my cancelled cheques (Antosiak only; Money to Leeder due to international
exchange problems, was cash). The payment to Leeder was repaid to Charles to me as per his
prior agreement, Payment to Antosiak was not repaid, nor was it to have been, What pare
ticularly intrigues me about this whole drift of subject is that all of my 'illegal game
placements® occured prior to the beginning of 1973, and the first protest, either public or
private was in april, That's quite a hiatus for such a magsive subject, It is also worth
noting that the two games you accidently left out of your tabulation, Mr, Ryare those in
which you're doing (or had done) tolerably well; the games you list are the ones you're losing,
That may not prove much, but i{f any reader is contemplating a psychology thesis, it could
be a rewarding topic. '

Well, I promised to keep this shorter than last time, and I may well land up lying to
you again, But the matter of real seriousness is now before us: Although he doesn't exactly
say it, Charles gives pretty strong implication that I'm a homosexual and that this has some-
thing to do with Diplomacys (I think it has far more to do with ignorant bigotry, but that's
not germain either,)

I ask you to consider the following point as objectively as you cans Though Charles
does not say "Conrad is a queer", in reading his paragraphs, don't you think the implications
are pretty decisive? That is, given that his facts are true, isn't my homosexuality the
logical conclusion?

Knowing full well your answer, I proceed,

Luxore. Yep, its a Dippy 'zine for homosexuals, (If interested, the address is...The
game is free.) Yep, I publish it. Nope, I don't edit it, Every advertisement for the thing

ha? made this distinction clear; I print it because | have a ditto machine and the
editor doesn't,
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My own preferences in sex. Yep, I'm'sympatico", (Ask a gay what that means sometime.
"One who is not himself gay, but has no qualms about maintaining friendships who those who
are.") Charles is kind enough to print that quotation from my publication; however, he cone
viently neglects to include the very next line in the same ad; "However, I am very happily
hetero, thank you," '

My recent divorce. Does that indicate homosexuality? If so, Mr. Reinsel, how about
coming to California and having an affair, since you were divorced last December,(((Hm. I
thought you just said you were happily hetero)).

And now, another question for the reader, If outeof=-context quotations, deliberate
twistings of statements, ommission of tempering information, vapid frrelevencies, and an

overall tenor of vicious bigotry do not constitute a smear, then please define a smear for
Mmey

Time for a summary, and I'll be gone. I submit that Charles Reinsel has engaged in
the most slanderous campaign of villification and vituperation in the history of Postal
Diplomacy., I submit that he has done so with innuendo, misquotations, irrelevancy, obvious
malice and gross impropriety. I submit that we have yet to see a single solid fact; and if
the same charge can be leveled at me, I rejoin by noting that in the American system of
jurisprudence = in this nation which Mr, Reinsel so vehemently claims to support - it is
the accuser upon whom falls the burden of proof; if I am to be called a liar, a cheat, an
un-American, a queer - let the accuser show us the proof that he spouts instead of additional
innuendos and falsely-constructed inferences that have to now been delivered, or let him
stand to account for perjury ((While Conrad's burden-of-proof argument is certainly in accord
with common sense, his reliance on the legal system is a gross oversimplifications It is
only in criminal charges, not in civil charges, that the burden of proof lies squarely with
the accuser, Indeed, the closest thing to a criminal charge in this might well be Conrad's
use of the word "perjury", which is a purely criminal term)).

I submit that Charles Reinsel is a blight on this hobby; that his influence is a gross
deterrent to any novices or neophytes that may be subjected to it; that his manner and mode
have the potential to damage the commercial spread of this game to new hobbyists,

[ submit that to remain as a player in a game under the banner of Charles Reinsel is
to condone his actions by default ((This strikes me as a gross non=sequtur))e. This state-
ment above all bears the most careful thought, because it could very well happen to someone
else. (In BB 16, the specific threat has been made to expell anyone from the game who dis=~
tributes game data to others, except as approved by Reinsel. Two players are already doing
this, and have been since the game began; they do so by passing on their copies of the moves
- which, I submit, are their property - to other parties, one of whom is I, The threat might
be translated "Pay me eight dollars, but don't dispose of your own property as you see fit,
or [ will keep the money and boot you out,” If this appears far-fetched, you haven't read
Mr. Reinsel's threat.,) It is thus my view that arbitrary misapplicatuon of the Gamemaster's
gavel must be met by rapid and overwhelming counter-response; such misuse of position against
one is an implicit misuse and & slur against all,

I cannot commend to you strongly enough the fullest and most in-depth analysis of my
points.

/

We have earried this to the ultimat?limit of sane endurance, and I beg forgiveness for
my excesses. Because [ believe this issue to be of paramount significance, I have intruded,
My gratitude for your consideration,

Correspondence, particularly with those who disagree with me on any level, is eagerly
soughte, Public anonymity guarenteed,

e sk e des e iAo s e e s A A s 2 de A A A e A A A Ak ok e e e e Aok e ke e Aol ke st
Heore are two different stles of sine-criticisms The first comes from Ethil the Frog #34,

page 7, presumably written by theeéditor, John Piggote The sécond is from "The Orphan" #17
1/12/74 (Oops, EtF date is 9/16/73)s 1,The Bolshevik star, with no shadow of Doubt
(Oopsit2 29 editor is JH Fleming) Is quite the worst zine that has ever come out

Its editor rants

And curses and pants

If he annoys you, just give him a clout
2. I have nothing personal against Mr Marsland, the publisher of Mars Vigila, but I must
say that his zine is an absolute plece of shit.
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- (((This dispute begins in Poictesme #18 (7-24-75) edited by Bruce Schlickbernd“)
To Gary Betmen:

I undsrstand that you have accused me directly of writing to warn you of the svil
characier of a player who is in one of your games and in 1975CI with me. Also that you
ar2 now making acrosse~game thrsats in my name, suggesting I arrenged this dsal with youa .

please send me a photostat of the lettor you purport to have immsdiately. IF
exiets; I did mot writs it,

I know only a couple of Canadian playsrs in this zine, excellent characters and playars
Doth, and would nsver purport ie judge or know the reputation of the player In guestion
here. Nor do T engage in cross-game deals cr smsaring of other players. Those who havs
Jeen my msntors in my year of play have taught me both tactics and a certain code of ethics
which ars informal, but which I find most jood players. tend to abide by. Diplomacy is
e cost game 1 know played for fun, bit T see no reason or nacesalty for t”ying to enge nder
sersonal animosities and hatrzd. Nor do I appraciate the attempt to make ne into a dgirty

s2€.00 0 capabiz of anything, as you apperantly are 17 vou have ol bean Jaclod.
Su sond tihe photostat immediately if you indeed have a letter signed "Pgtrick tfzan®,
{f nogt, stay the fuck out of my games I should liks o know your rsasons for misreprasentinrg

mg in this way, and an apclogy. I re#use to engage in similiar tactics against you,
My address iss 322 Clinton, Crand Haven, Michigan 49417,

I should like to note for the benefit of other players who may have heen aware of chis
sityation that I find John Weswig to be a good oppenent, not a tyrant, paranocid, mad slabba:
cr liar all of wvhich he has been called in my name, and I am glad that such a nasty approach
to the game, desigred to make us into bitier personal enemizs has besn discovered,

1f you have thes letter, senc it. If not, perhaps you and your cohort (whose identity
ie clear to me) would like to come out of the wordwork for a public discussion of across
the game play and its legitimacy or illegitimacy?

Yours,

) Pat Eiron
((( Here and in the rest of the exchanges, the double parenthesis are Bruce Schlickbernd)))

({(First. let me note tnat ¥ have noit seen any proof one way or the giher; howsver,
curiging By a precss release Johr Uoswin has submittod; and the passible aspersions cast
o0 my name just recently, thove is definately something afoot. Without peointing an
zeeusirg finger at anybody, let me s2y & few words on the subjsct.

({when writinre my house ruies, T wasn't gquite sure what to do with, people who indilged
in cress game 2llierces. Throwing them out is pretiy radicel to say the legast, and is
SJ“"U‘NO I probebly wovicn't do. When I said in my house rules that players may decisve
= other to their hesrts content, 1 was assuming thal the players would =smploy some '
“cim of discretion. Thus, saying that a player offered ypu an alliance to a third narty
when he didn't is psut of the game, Even faking a Jetter to verify such a lis is oka
(Ped Rear did tril¢;” a game in £n fassant). Hewever, there is a point where negotiatiocns
“an go beyonc the termination of a Ygame", Spe rifically, when a plaver “ries to start

personal Teud batwearn twe obtiher players by lying about carrespondence in such a wey that
ihe hatred goss to 3 personal level rather than in confext of Dipleomacy as a gam3. You
“entt just go around saying that 'Joe Stab called you @ god damn 8.C.b., lotls ally
:gaJnst him', This is a game.
i (Now, goimg or to wrose--came dealings. Uhan playing in a Diplemacy qame, cre should

<eep his rcorrespondence in attampts to cain ailisnces and the like rastricted to thal game

aly, w.go tuwe plavers are in tuvo gamoes together, cre says to the othaer that "if you'll hslp
ra in this game, I'11 help vou in the other.® That is not fair to the other plavers since
'ou are bringing something into the game thay can’t have a chance to deal with. 'Allying
with cne fellow in seouerel gamas is fine if you do it cut of trust ox convenience, but
srying to gein an advantmge ut of it in ancther game isn't right. WNor are cross-game
i??.atig where you say, "1'il attack vou in this one if you don't stop attacking me in the
JChRer. .
{(Firaily, 1 nay note cnat the croes
inasnuch as most playsrs are rm1y QP
vou deal im such chirgs, yau dﬂ" va what

3

Gom ;ame player is ultimately slittimn his cwn throat
sad to such tactics, and if the word gets out thet
t ycu get.

((Let me clavify that by Dllhtiﬂﬂ Fat's letter ! do 1ot in any way present that as
o cendamration of Gavy on my part, Nor &s an accusatior of him of any of the above, If
some one is actually indulging in cross game bad mouthing, threats, sxtortions, or afizénces,
I hope that it is simply eut of ignorance of the unfair nature of such, and hopefully
apoligies will 98 tondered to the agrleue! parties. ) ) : '7
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GARY BEHNEMS “Recently in issue #18 of Poictesme, I was libelously assaulted by Mrs. Efron,
Originally I planned to ignore such total absurdities, but on second thought, silence in
this instance could possibly be construsd by some to mean that the allegations made were
trua.

"I shall not lowsr myself to indulge in a feud with a gutter-mouthed, gutter-mindsd
individual, I have better usss for my time.

"I have no n3ad to prove my reputation, as any player I have sver played uwith knous
these accusetions are merely a libelous assault, attempting to smear my name and reputation
in the Diplomacy hobby, For thoss of you that have yet to play in a game with me, 1 only
ask that when we meet, this shall not prejudice you teo much. Such detestable tectics, .
guenthe.cs totally false, always leavas an adverse imoression. I ask only that you lst my
actions and play and not the foulemouthed, hysterical words of others, influence your
gpinions of me.

"I hope no innocent partiss bhave been affected in any way by this petty attempt., Since
when has any publication doubled as the post office? If Patricia Efron truely livad by
her self=-styled athics, shz would have sent the letizr directly to me, She has obviously
wnnaged in threats, bademouthing, use of profene language, smears, and her own brand of
deception of the Gamesmastar and players,”

<l

MATLBUX OVERFLOWETH

((This is the officlal let:er Gary sent me in rasponse to Pat Efron's letter (which
wes actuzalily press, but we'll get te that later). Hz alsc sent another letter to me,
which he specificelly deniad me permission te rsprint, Whereas any letter sent to me by
law becomazs my p2rsonal property, and I cen do with it what I will, I would normally honor
such a request. Howeusr, duz to the situation, the claims that Gary makes, and veiled
threats that if I doen't do exactly as he says, heill make trouble, I found myself coming
to the reluctant conclusian that the only way to set things right and defend myself (Gary’s
“adverse impressions® apply to sveryone, not just him) properly is to do so publically.
1 only dr this afier great deliseration, and I offsr my sincere apoligies te Gary for
disvegarding his request [srder) not to even mention the follcwing ietter., My comments will
follow, and I would advise you not to take anything that Gary says at face value.))

Dear HMr. Schlickbernd,
Erncinsed plzase find a responsc to thu istter from Patricia Efron. I rscuesst that this

resporse to her istter be printed in issuz 19, even if it would mesn ZJeleting some press.
It you chuse toc oafuse to print this, I shall 7ind someone that will, 1 a2iso will tell that
person why I was Torced ta come to them, '

When readiny issue 13 of Poictesme, I was abhorred to Tind the Patricia Efron to
Gary Hebhnen 1Ltt¢*, for many reasons,
4 1 had not been notified chat 1 wes being essaulted. 1 feel it would have been only

t0 have rTec:zived a lotter “rom vou sitatirg that she hias made such an assault, In thzt

ter vou should have askszd if it was a lie, will you ignore it, or would you like o
disprove it. uhz: happenad though was that 1 was MNEVER noti”ied., T only sec tuo possibls
explaw tione:; Yo. either Fa2lt you had the authority teo do what you pleased, or you knew
to act in an cderliy fashisn would disallouw the primting of such a libelous assault, and
.consequently, yo. would ajain be thwarted in your attempts to discredit me.

2e That you :zilowed this attack to be coenductsd without any prooi, faoricated cor other-
uises

3. That vou dion't svan attempt to edit the prcfane languzge. Uho would want to show
this trash to somnzone intsrzsted in the hobby?

4 That you alaced tne letter and your comments such that it appeared that I was quilty

of the allegaticris, 1.e. Between Mr. Buchanan's letter about Mr. Beshara and your explanstian
on cress game thisats.

5. That you statsd this wasn't a condsmnation only at the very end, If it was to appear
cnly once, it should havs appsared immediately after the letter and no:t st the insignificent
spot in which it was thrown., I feesl you acted very asnuwisely, as this whole incident sheds
an even worse lizht on you and your publica‘ion.

’ I vehemzntly suggest that in issue #19 of Poictz2sme, you openly admit:

qe That you wzre wrong in permitiing PUlCDBSMB to be used as a2 vshicle for persona]

Arcantd e {



Page 3 Poictesma #9

{Eohnan's letter, cont.) 2. That you waore unwilse for printing such en asseault without
proof.,

s That you hops that sny innocent parties involued have not suffered any adverss con-
sequences Prom this personal assault.

4, (if you are mature enough) I apoligize to Gary Behnen, and thase assaults are to my
knouledge, false., ((First person usage is Gary's, not mine)) .

I ask that you only do what should justly be dens. 1 also request that after my
responsg, you shall refrain from permitting Poictesme to be used as a vehicle for personal
assaulit. ' ’

Se you can understend the situation cleerly, I shall inform you of the events leading
up to this aessault, and why the assault was conducted.

Mr. John weswig and I were in 1974GS. When he entered ((as a standby player)), we made
an agreement, and in less than 2 seasons, he broks it. That was only the start. By this
time, I was in two other games with him. I worked diligently to form new agraementa. In
197465, we agreed upon a plan, whereby he laft Holland., Agein, he broke it, Meanuwhile,
my other games suffersd bscause he hinged all our gemes and alliances togethsr, 5o, after
coming under assault in thres separate games, I wraote and told him that for us to come to
terms would require that he acted in one certain way in 197465, In that communieation,

I only mentionsd the oiher games., (Becsuse he does cross games, he interpretsd this es

a cross game threat, which it was not), At this sdme time he sent corrssponderice, and

the letters crossed in the mail., In his letter, hs stated he had personal problems and

he gave his consent to plans that would throw two of our three gamss in my favor. To this
I sent a very positive reply end apologized for my pravicus harsh stand. (If ever asked,
he'll prcbably deny that lstter ever arriving). After that his personal problems cleared
up. But he was stuck with strong commitments to me, and it was ageinst his nature to go
through with them. He naeded a way out, so he took my lstter of June 22, 1975 and stated
that it contained a cross-game threat., ((Excuse me for interrupting. You omit several
detes from when the letters arrived; did your apology and his claim of yeu making cross-
game threats cross in the mail?)). He went on to bscome hysterical and began making
absurd rationalizations, In that letter ne stated, Y...aid in your elimination from any
game vou sver enter." he had saved his sltuation by taking my lstter and rsading things
inte it. He ocould Mustly! now claim it as & cross gams threat, and thatfs why he didn't
gtick to his agreements. Wall, I then ssnt a letter back and exposed his whole ploy to
hime This scarsd him because he knew his ploy was untevered, He feared that 1 would

be as low down as to publically %ry and smear him with the evidence in hand ((none of
which, I should note, Gary offers me))., So, he must discredit me first, He then embarked
on a cempaign to sliminate me from any game I ever enter. He first riled Mrs, Efron up

by uwsing words and twisting sentences of my lstter around to accuse me of corducting cross
game threats in har name. He then prompted her to attack me, so no suspicion would be
cast upon his nama, It's obvicus shs has no cold hard facts as subconsciously admits in
her opening sentence, "I understand..." It's cbvious that Mr. Weswig tried to have ms
paintad a3 a villain and himself the good guy as she later absurdly remarks, "...not z
tyrant, paranoid, mad stabber, and liar..." Anyone that has had the axperience of following
Mr. Waswig kmows that he is & paranoid, a mad stabber, obviously a liar, and probably a
tyrant although he hasn't had that opportunity. 5o, this worked out very well for him,

If 1 did sttack him now, he'd be able to call on my "demonic" and his "angelic" reputation
as he printed in issus #18 of Poictssme., Thersby ridding himself of esny blame.

Well, I could go into greater destail, but the main points havs bren covered, This
allouws you a teste of what is afoot,

with that in mind, I hope you how understand I'm not a crybaby, I don't want to
asgault Mr. Weswig as I fesel that such tactics are detestable., This s a2 game, and I try
to win, but I refuse to indulge in such activities,

If you di gst some fabricated truth, I ask that you request the original letter so
you can judge for yaurself. Also, any comments that might be added, please ignore them,
as this is HIS intesrpretation, and what he wants you to believe. ((Agsin, excuse me for
interrupting, but this cen't wait until the end. Gary asks me to accept what he said with~
out any "eoriginal letters. He then rsquests = double-standards the preceeding was Gary's
intsrpretation, and is what he wants me to believe., I am not saying he is delibrately
misrepresenting anything, but he is being hypocriticel as to accepting svidence)).

It




Page 4 Poictesme #19

(Behnen's letter Cont.) .

1 hope this enlightens you on what has occured, so that in the futurs you better
understand what I'm up against and why,

Enclossd you should also find & photocopy of a letter from Merk Zimmerman to Gary
Behnen, I send it in its entirety so you couldn't possibly construe this =s false. I
pring special attention to the bottom of the second pags.

({Thz salient portion reads, "Eric (Verhsiden) menticned, by the way, that Paih is
short for Patricia, Ron Efron's wife.,.maybe it's some small sscret, since in her latter
she makes refsrences to "Patrick Efron' and half lsauvss the imprsssion that's who she isa")}

I'm very glad to see women interssted and playing in the hobby. 1 have Tound it
enjoyable to play with them, and T*m allied with one in ore of my games. 3Zuf, male or
female, I don't condone breaking of the house rules. Patricia Efron has bezen deceiving
you. It's not that I have anything ageinst women, but there is s principls at stake, and
that's the breaking of one of your house rules.

-Your nouse rules clearly state that decention of the GM in zny form is nol permissable
and results in ojection from the game., Mrs, iifren has obviously decesived you by lesading
vou to the conclusion she is a male.

"If you already know, then both you and frs. Efron are guilty of deesiving the players.
7f this is ihe case, you'should haus stated tnat "Pat Efron™ is rlaying uncer false prstense,

whataver, she should be ejected from the geme, and her little pleoy uncoverede I'm
confident this shall be the case {{it isn't)), unless vou ere bhiss and arbitrary in your
rulings ({I'm not))}e I hazve presented proof, and the facts speak for themselves., Still,
if you don't beliesve it, call Mrs. Efron and ask her. 3Just tell her it was brought to your
ettention, as thera is no need to tell her who, But the money would only ke wasied as she
is obviously guilty.

If you don't make it claear to all subscribers of your 'zine, I shall., This gives them
o definite disadvantage when playving with her., Uhen daaling with a Temals, you don't
correspond in the same manner as with e male, If you vefuse to inform the subscribers, I
see it only fair that 1 inform them, ard tell them that you rofused Ho.

As for your chronic entipathy tousrds me. You've held something ageirst me for a
long time ((This is news to me)), Thus, when she attacked me, you seizsd upon the opportunit)
tc discredit me without investipetion. You hoped this would divert attention from the
aspersions cast upon you, to the personail feud between Mrs, Efron and myself, If this is
the cass, 1'm sorry to see a GM end publisher ge sa low te try and clear their name,

You have been doun on me ever since I guestioned your "nsutral' corders ({Refers to
the Spring 1901 orders made for italy in 19751 that ware made according to my House Rule
#10))e VYou fslt that this was an attack on your Hauthority", After you sent your rather
snobbish explanation to me., there were no problems. I then sent a2 suggestion on how to
clarify that housse rule. UWell, you did just that, but you never acknoledged the Tact that
I gave you the idea or thet the rule was aver guestioned. Instead, you tock full credit,
Even thougnh you took scmething away from me, you uwere stil}l enraged I ever guestioned you,
and you were bent on revenga.

Then, I warned you of the aspereicons cast upon vod. At Tirst, they were hard to
believe, but now, theay may possibly be trus. Uhy else would you become so shook and creats
a new ruling about locality? ((?)) 1 was alsc surprised to ses you more or lsss condemn
yorself, i.e. "...arc rather one way." ({(Full guote:s ™A player in one of the games herein
expressed ths Pact that I "discuss! these gamos with some of the players. You nsed not
worry, the only 'discussions" I have are rather one-way: they tell me what they ars
doing or planning on, and T say nothino." Please note that the word "discussion! is in
gquotesy I do not discuss ths gamegAanycna, though they might tell me uwhat they ars up to.
Both local and players as far away as Cenada do this)) How can you have ore-uway discussions®
({Gary omits the quotation marks around discussion, he obviocusly missed the whole point))
Also, how can you sit like a stonoface when they expose their plans? 1 doubt that you are
dummy, some faclal expressien must be shown. I fsel you are wromg to even converse with
friend about a game in vhich one of you is the GM and the ather a plaver., No uwonder
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in a card to me vou state that Bruce Killion and Chuck Davic zmpheticelly oonls
1 ¥ oy iy e ] IR s o o . ; Lo . ) T,
no' whan you guestionud them-if your ciscussions asver led then to any conclusions about
b e P : . P . . o - .
the game, Hou dumb do you have to be to admit that vsu recsived information fram the
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. Dage 5 ‘ Poictesme #46

{Behnen's letter cont.)
G pertaining to the game that no one lese received? It wouldn't only ruin their reputations,
it would destroy your publication, and could possibly cause your freindship to cease.

I tried to bs fair and warn you of the suspicion that was lurking outside. But, if
I'm going to be handed libelous assaults, personal threats, and abuse, I shall refrain from
trying to waxrn and/or hslp you in the futurs.

You stated that you only adjudicate the gemes, not play in them, Correct me if I am
wrong, but I've always playsd under the assumption that press was a very real part of the
game ((an assumption I don't subscribe to)). So, your ‘1little comments after someonas's press
doss change the events, thersby changing the game, :

Press normally uses 50%—75% of a publication, especially’ yours, Tha'players work
hard to craate press relesases and they don't expect or appreciate their efforts being torn
apart and ridiculed by the GM and/or publisher. You should be much more considerate for
if averyonse stopped writing press, Poictesme would end up on the same lavel as a carbon
copy print-out.

Obviously you ‘edit prsas at your whlm. It should be stated that you will edit for
all or none., You should not touch up a select fow.

In conclusion, I suggest you stick to adjudicating the games and staying completely
out of them, If you want to write press, onter a game, but please don't take pot shots at
us, because it does change the gamss, and ths one you attack ie by no way favored,

You can run your *zine in any fashion that appsals to you. You have basically
two choices, thoughs You can run it toc bs used as a vehicle for personal assaults on
"gnemies" and to help friends unjustly, or you can shy away from those sgo trips and publish
a respectable zine, in which games are run in a totally unbiased way, with rulings that
aren't apbitrary, but absolutely juste.

In the past I've supported Poictesme. I've recommended it to friends and a few have
subscribed, But, the recent quality of your publication leaves something to be desirsd,

I sincerely believe you will straighten things out, and when you do, I'11l start drumming
up support for your 'zine again. But until that time, I shall only be a subscriber. So,
enclosed please find §2,00 for ten issues of Foictesme., 1 should now yreceive issues 19=29
of Poictesme, inclusive.

I DC NOT give you my permission to print this letter in part or in its entirsty., I
also don't permit any references to be made toc this letter. Nor dc 1 permit the contents
herein to be used in any assaults or investigations you may conduct, without my permissiaon.

If you do refar to this letter in any fachion in spite of my warnings not to, you may
suffer severe conseguences.

I hope your antipathy towards me can be cast aside, 1I'd like to bs able to lay f ounda-
tions for & friendly relationship., I don't want your snmity, nor do I belisve you want
mine. But, if you do indulge in attempts to smear my nams, I shall defend myself, In my
defanss, I shall use any weapon available to me, as long as it's valid and provasn, for
I neither condone or encourage libelous assaults.

Sincerely,
Gary Behnen

((1I must point out that Pat Efron's letter was technically press: I only presented it
in the letter section so as to temper it with my commentg. From that standpoint, I really
don't have to notify anybody inasmuch as people are always attacking each other in the
press. But more to the point in answering point ons in your letter, you should realize that
since I do not actually prohibit cross~game alliances and threats (though parhaps I should),
Pat's letter did not directly concern me. That disputs, then, is bstween you and Pat, and .
since I enter into it only obliqualy, there is no justification in claiming that I must
notify you. If Pat had claimed that you had sent orders to me in her name, that would
have been different, and I would have conducted an investigation before I presented the
charges (r allowed them to be prasented)publically. Your comments that I was trying to
discredit you are patently ridiculous:s I did not write the letter in gquestion? Did I attack
you in any way with my comments that followsd Pat's? No, of course not, if anything, I
defended you. Further, I carefully polntad out that by printing Pat's lstter, I in no way
presentad it as either the truth aor an echo of my oun opinion, On point 2, again, the
dlspute was between you and Pat, and I contemplate no action on the matter. On point 3,
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Pags & . Poig o #19

since when do 1 ever edit "profane! language? Your language would have to be pretly
repulsive befors I =dit it. Point 4 is without basis, Pat's latter was plaged after

Wait's simply by chance, and my comments fcllowsd her letter bescause most readers wouldn't
know what I was talking about if I placed them before the letter, I doubt if anyone assumsed
guilt by association besides yourself. Point 5: so? You are simply being picky. The

point was that 1 did point out that 1 was not condemning you, nor was it placed so as to

be 1nulgn1f1cantu

((I do not balisve I was wrong in allowing Pat's press, therefore, point one of your
sacond set is immaterial., Point 2 is answsred abovs, 1 stated last issue that I hoped
that the matter could be settled among the playsrs involved with a minimum of hurt feelings.
My whole comment was basically a plea %o the players to rosolus the matter intelligently.

I can see whers nobody, including you, oven bothered to try. Anyuway, poilnt three has been
answared sometime ago. Point 4: I have not acted wrongly, and thus no apology will be
forthcoming.

({1t 2ohn Weswig did break his agreements (I have no idea one way or the othsr, and
you offer no evidence) that is part of the game., Certainly in your article printed in
Claw & Fang and Centurion you even encourage this. In any case, it is immaterial te the
discussion, If you did write to Jonn and say that you would attack him in your cther
genes if he did not coopsrate in 1974GS, thalt could be validly construed as a cress-—gams
threat, whether vou msant for it to be or not, i On the other hand, i you said that judging
by 1874GS that John was untrustworthy and not worth the risk in other games, your case
becomes stronger. I can't say becauss I haven't sesn the lettsr. And if you did not
intend to make cross-geme threats, that doesn't mean by accident you might have made it
appear so. Things are rarely black and whitej did eithser vou or John pause to think that
you both might be wrong? fuch of what you write after that point is unsupportabls surmises
and I cannot accspt them as presentaede. He was probably just as sincere as you, but being
sincere does not nocessarily make one right,

{{How can you ask me to print your comments on Pat's letter without offering proof
one way or the other, and ask me in the same breath to deny this to others? Gary, you
must look at the argument from other's vieuwpcints, too. I don't think you intended to be
hypocritical, but that is effectively what you have done.

({Pat Efron is, indesd, Patti Efron., I was invited into a game in Paroxysm, and the
French player was listed as Patrick Efron, and at thes same time, this Patrick Efren asked
if he could enter a game in Poictasme. I replied in the affirmative. Upen receiving the
house rules, Pat immediately informed me that it was Palricia, not Patrick, You have not
read the rule completely, Gary, for HR #2 regarding players goos on to state that players
may play under pseudonyms with the GM's permiscien. Normally, I would have informed players
that her nams was Patti, and she told me toc wo shead and tell the players if it would
cause trouble if I didn't. Howsver, Harry Drews had allowed it, and it would have blown
her cover for that game, so I allowed her to continue under the name "Pat" without specifying
that it was really Patti. Inasmuch as it was simply a permutation of the same name, it was
nardly a sin. And the rule doss state, "A player must play under his oun neme..." though
don't try and use that, women, I will nail you. Anyway, since the alias was used with my
permission in ascordance with my house rules, I was not deceived by Patti and she remains
in ths game, Moreovar, I should note that your “proof" that Patti uas insufficisnt for me
to have acisd on that alone. Zimmerman did not say whether the addresses of Patrick and
Patricia Efron matched, nor did he know for sure himselfe know, I was there uwhen Eric
mentionsd her name as Patti, You have jumped to conclusions that are not supportable by
the evidence you havae, 1 am not required to tell anyons that a particular playsr is playing
under an alias, and I do not agree that I should have stated such. Besides, did you call
Mrs. £fron and be sure? Finally on the subject of Ms. Efron, you handed me an ultimatum
in your letter to kick her out, but not allowing me to say a thing about your letter if
you happened to be urong. This was one of the prims reasons I am printing your letter:
you gave me no alternative if I am to defend myself against any expose you decide to
tell the players, never once considering that you might be wrenge

((Your statement that when dealing with females, you don't correspond in thes same
mannar as you do with males, is procisely one of the reasons why Patti asked to play
undsr the name Patrick. She wanted to bs accepted (or not accepted as the case may be)
for herself, not her gender. You have informed sveryone, now, that it is Patti, not
Patrick. I trust you are pleased with yoursaslf. And Pat, your cover was plown in 1975R
by someone other than me, which is why I went ahead and discusssad this. 1?
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((W¥e now come to the main reason why I am reprinting your letter. Whatever antipathy
i folt touwards yocu was wholly in your mind., UWhat do you offer to justify your cleim that
I seized upon to further this imagined grudge? You are totally lacking in any form of
intelligent rational on this matter. VYou are behaving akin to Captain Queeg, For ths
benefit of the readsrs, allow me to glve some background., In 1975CI, the Itaelian player
missed his Spring 1901 orders for a country that defaults in either Spring or Fall 1901,
This was taken directly from the Grendel Press housa rules {Conrad von Metzke), who was,
when he put his mind to it, ene of the best GMs around, Rod Walker also employs this
rule, but only for Spring 1901, I had my brother mske up several sets of possible orders,
with the restrictions that Venice must be covered, that the second army be in a position
to support Venice if necessary, that he not vioclate any foreign territory, and that ths
flzet in Naples could move to Tumis inm the fall. One was picked at random, which read
F Nap-Ion, A Rom~Apu, A Ven H. This was construed by Gary as an anti~Italian opening.
Apparently he had been reading toa many Lepantec articles as I can quite guarentse anyone
~ that asks that it ie very easy to attack Austria from that position, or France for that
matter. Anyway, Gary howled, apparently unaware that this set-up wes in no way exclusive
to attacking Turkey alone, and thus it met my requirement of bsing neutral. I carefully
explained all this to Gary trying my hardest not to be insulting or curt; I was hardly
snobbish, though after Gary's rather offensive letter, I would have been justified if I
had done so. That would heve solved nothing, howsver, and I figured that a soft answer
would mollify him hest, ' Gary did suggest that I clarify (wsll, demandsd, but let's not go
into that) my procedurs for obtaining the nesutral moves, and wheras I thought it a wasts
of tims (uwhat difference does it make how Y get them as long as they fit the bill of
being neutral?) out of courtesy to Gary, I did so. The actual technique was my own, so
I didn't even suspect that Gary's ogo demanded that he be given credit for the clarafication,
He certainly didn't tell me. And as to the point of my not mentioning that the ruling
. was ever questiored, well, If I had acknouwledged that, I would have reprintesd Gary's letter,
- and I figured I was doing him a favor by not printing. If you insist, Gary, I wiil print
it. I immediatsly forgot about the matter since Gary scemed to bs happy, and didn't voice
any mors protests, Judging by this recent letter, I would say that it was Gary who was
haibering the grudgs against me, not the other way around. UWhy Gary claims that I was
enraged or bent on revenge is beyond me, all I can assume is that he is overly-senzitiva
or slightly paranogid. After all, I'm not the ons who made a big production number over it.

{{The "aspersions" Gary mentions are in regards to an episode whsro one player was
intimating that I was favoring local plsysrs., There was no basis for the claim, znd it
was entirely a ploy to get the players to ally against Long Beach players. Gary sent
me 3 letter, not of warning me about these plots, but accusing me of them, I was warned
thal someone was bademouthing me by another player. Aside from it being a goddam lie that
I vas helping anyong, it brought somathing into the game that was unfair to both the local
players and myself. How ceuld Bruce Killian or Chuck Davis dsfend themselves against this
kind of attack. I was not going to stand for it, bs the attack be aimed at Killian, Weswig,
Behnen, or Beshara. Thus I made it quite clear that anybody indulging in this pasttime
(which comes under the headirg of decsiving the other players cencerning GM rulings) would
be thrown out Tor good, I gave this person the bensfit of the doubt that he didn't know
batter, but i¥ anyone triss it again, they will bs sorry they sver heard of Diplomacy.
T do not "discuss" the games with Bruce or Chuck in any way, shape, or form. Almost
every GM has local players in his games, they all seem to be able to cope uith it, what
makss you think I can't? 1 do very well at both poker and FTF Diplomacy, games that
reguire that you give nothing sway by facial expression, And as an example: Bruce Killian
was peondering whether he should trust Turksy in 19751 and leave Serbia and Graeece opan
or not. He did this right in front of me, since he uses my Diplomacy Board to prepare
hie moves. I knew that Turksy was moving to Ser and Gre, and yet he didn't defend them
cven though I was sitting right thera in front of him., I should point cut that the Turk
mode it successfully to Ser and Gre, and that Turkish player was cu,Gary. How you have
the gall to throw this in my face when you are proof otherwise, I'll naver know. And
further, I made none-of those "libelous assaults, personal threats, and abuse" to you,
and why you blame me for them is a mystery. Can you say the same about making "libelous
assaults, personal threats, and abuse" towards me?

{(You are wrong regarcding the press (wsll, yoy asked me to correct you)e My commznts

15




Page © Boictosme #19

only appear when someocne has hended me a straight line {"He (Pope Zanius) went on to CO7
that he was happy to have married tne Feuhrer," I maan, when you are going to hand me that
on a silver platter, I'm going to taks it), when somecne writes something so garbled that

it doesn't make sense {As in the last sentence in your Ankara relzase last issue), or when
someone puts his Toot in his mouth, I was hardly out to get you when 1 made comments
following your press. Besides, I have made more snide remarks about John Baker's press than
anyone's, so you hardly have the corner on the market. "My little comments™ may effect

the press, but hardly the gama. ‘

({There are very few peopls who write as much press as I do, end I know just as wsll
as anyone what kind of effort goas into writing a press release. Howsver, I am ons of the
very feu publisher's that allow open press, and much of the rotten siuff gets printed that
the space could otherwise bes devoted to something of more intarest or humor. Thus, poorly
written press may be put doun by me just so I can keep my sanity. I am trapped into having
to type it and it can get quite tedious for somesone who types as poorly as I do, even if
the press is excellant. 1 appreciate the effort, but many times very little effort has
been put into press, and many times commendable effort goes into a very poor product, I'm
simply trying to give you a hint that you may hasve blown it. Houwever, [ sllow it so that
people who want to write press can get some practice. If I edited press for content, and
rewrote that which was poorly uwritten sucih as Rod Walker does, then my comments would
undoubtedly dissappear. Houever, as long as I keep an open press policy, I reserve the
right to comment on anything submitted to Poictesme for printing. fAgain, you ara being
overly-sensitives I have corrected your poor grammar oOT spelling many times in your presss
you simply do not notice when I help you. And on Margaret Gemignani's press, I hava to
correct it just so that it is coherent, This is why I ridiculed the "Comte dtaimerts®
press claiming that Margaret wasn't franch because her French was sc poor, Ytuer waste
of everyone's time. Peggy has enough trouble with English——attacking her on her french
is supsrflucus.

({1 don't knouw where you got your figures regarding the anount of space press takes
in the avergaes Dippyzine since it is my experience that your percentages ara quite high,
And if everyone stopped writing press for Poictesme, I would have more room Lo write
myself, sc Poictesme would hardly become a mere carbon copy zine. I7 I didn't put out
moTe press on my ocwn in three weeks then is submittsd by all the players in Poictesme put
together, I could make Peictesme run 20 or more pages every issus, Howaver, I like the
press on the whole, and I appreciate the effort, even if it misses the mark sonetimes,

1 never “touch up®™ anyone's press except to correct blatant errors in syntax, spelling, and
punctuation, stc. I never condense it, or print part of a pross releass. 1 hate Reader's
Digest. IFf enything is sver lsit out of somoone's press, it is simply an srrox on my

part in transcribing it, and I should note that I am a very poor itypist.

({GM participation in press wars is well established in the hobby, and such prominent
GM as John Boardman and Rod Walker have indulged in such. Tha preccdent is there. Do you
want me to charge all those people who are "playing™ as minor countries in 1974GS5 gamefees?

((Your threat of "severe consequences' is somewhat disturbing. To have deelt with
some of the points you brought up in your letter, I was going to have to refer to it, so
as long as I'm going to be damned for that, I might as well print the whole thing. How
you can say you don't like threats and then threaten me seems rather bizarre. You certainly
don't make a good case for yourself. And if you do carry out your threat, I assure you
that you are ths one who is going to be worse off. I hope that you would act more maturely,
but on the basis of previous letters where you heap vituperations on m2 rather than discuss
the problem rationally, I don't know.

({1 am deeply saddened and disappointed that you would write a letter like that. I am
not mad about it since I tentatively credit to your inexperience, igrorancz of both thc
hobby and people, and plain poor judgement. VYou accredit motives to me that vou cannot
gstablish by any logical arguments, why? VYou had bsst learn now that you should not decide
what people think Tor them, and you zre lucky that I am trying to solve ths problams rather
than replying in kind.

({So, we finally come back to the stsrt of this., You say you are against croass—game
threats. S0 does John., So does Patti. So do I. When the whole thing came up, I was
rather surprised thet you were being acoused of such. My thoughts on the matter were
either whoever had made the threat had done so unconsciously, unintentionally, not aware
that it was bad form to do so, or that it was ?‘simple misundsrstanding., I cannot solve
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s we the prablam for vou, all I can do is urca you to discuss it amongsi yoursalves
" rationally and iatelligently. John is not an ogre, and will talk sbout it if you t?Yo
I know that from exgerience, From my ocwn vicwnoint, I thought from the start that it yas
a cullosal misunderstanding. But since this doss not involue the rules, I can do nothing
about it except offar advice, and hope that you show some measure of maturity and solve
the question yoursslves. _ N
{{and as to Gary's remarks concerning me, thay ars entirely without found@tlono why
ne makes my decisions for me is a question I can't answar. I did not fesl antipathy towards
during, ar after any of the incidents he named, It is unfortunate that he should feel this
way. Again, I apoligize for ceprinting your letter, but if I am to function properly as
a GM, then I must meet your charges headeon and preve them to be falsa,
((comments ars invited.))

* * X * * » * % *

(((Well! With all that fire and brimstone, you can imagine that #20 had plenty on this,

some of which ['l1]l summarize and some of which will be quoted, In an article entitled
"THERE IS NO TRUTH TO THE RUMOR THAT JIM DIEHL IS REALLY GOEBBELS~==«] THINK" (this is a
reference to Diehl's well known Nazi tendenclcs, at least in print) he commented on

Diehl's '"open letter", Three people, he noticed, wrote him in agreement with Jim, and all
lived in Bloomington (as did Jim and Gary). . Gary Behnen is charactarized as a "hot-blooded
beginner with the *'pliable! mind", and Jim is accused of inconsistancy in asking Bruce when
a new game would open and yet writing another that he'd never play again under Bruce's H.R.Sse.
He concluded "The frothing and foamings of Diehl are ludicrous, offensive, and more than
just a little bit sick"

(((Patti Efron checked in with a rebuttal, finding Gary's statement on corresponding with
. females as "a perfect example of why I've played as "Patrick" in the past", and defended
. her use of profanity, to which Bruce responded, in parteceecs)))

((Patti only hurt her own crediblity by using profanity in hsr original statement
in Poictesme #18, There were a feu people who said if her original statement was press,
why didn't I print it with the press, Well, like I said, it was technically press since
she submitted it with her other press. The way it was presented, though, it could have
besn taken either way. I printed it in the letter cclumn bscause I felt having my comments
there more eppropriate than in the press section, And if I had put it into the press
section, I would not have printed any comments, and despite Gary's complaints otharwise,
my comments were designed to restore some sanity te the situation. And I clarified in more
than one point that by printing Patti's siatement that I in no way presented it as my
opinion. Further, I have an open press policy-—as long as the press is about anything but
someone breaking a house rule, I'1ll put it in if 1 have thae time and spaca. As I have
alrzady pointsd out, cross-game folderecl is not against my house rules, and so thers was
ne rneed to edit it., T will not print letters such as hers in the future only if I either
repeal the open press HR or meke cross~geme thresats/alliances verboten,

(((After picking up some complementary remarks from Scott Rosenberg and Harry Drews, he ran
into some criticism from John Baker, who later became the IDA/NA ombudsman)))
GOHN BAKER: "I must say that I disappreve of your reprinting of Gary Behnen's letier.
fils is reminiscent of the rxecent hobby-wide debate over ths rights of publishers to
nrint zines, While Gary's letter may (or may net be—-I'm noit familiar with that aspect
# the lsw) be legally yours, you had no moral right to reprint it. A matter would have
¢ sericus indeed before reprinting such a letter, especially ons of such personal
naturz, would bs necessary,

"0f pourse, nuch of what he says is incorrect. For example, I find it hardly likely
that you have bsen ‘Hown™ an Behnen. On the other hand, he might have semething now that
su've printed his letter., I don't know what I would o if vou reprinted something I
ne
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peciflicaily asked you not teo print, or cven to menticn, but I wouldn't 1ike it, I would

Y
s J
probably reagt rather mildly, canceliling my subscription to Poictesne, raesigning from

.Y games in Polgtesme, and resigning from any gemes which I found you to he in with me,

L uaen you that Gary may not react aildiy. ((He says in print aboui "severe consegquences
and vou warn about not reacting mildlyes.?)) ‘ 17 ‘
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....... T adow of a doubt that 1t wes indead Patii a
iz presumed, and throwing a plaver out is a sericus natiter, and I simpl c
accopt ¢ hend hsarsay. VYss, parts of the letiter were pewscnal, and it may gz argued
that they chould hevz besn left out, but they helped establ’sh how wild Gary @as “C;‘P”
and I gidn't went to be accusad of YconvenientlyY lcaving anything cut. I aluévsJCa;{éy

left out the part about Gary not wanting his letter printed and made him out to be a fool
by such an action e=- I | was out to get Gary, why did I print that part? Besides, Gary
was the one who did the threatening, if anything, it's Gary who i{s "down'" on me, Just
because I think what he has said is foolish doesn't mean I hate him, for God's sake.

((John, if you sent me a letter accusing a player of breaking my house rules, not
providing any evidence, threatening to make trouble if ] didn't throw the person in ques-
tion out, and in general going on a tirade, I'm afraid I might print the letter anyway even
knowing you might resign, Besides, Gary is doing the proper thing in staying in and seeing
this through (((Game was 1974GS))) ))

((Sometimes, a GM can get into a squabble by adding some comments to a game-close that don't
sit well with one of the players. This comes from " " by James Massar, #37, 3/30/74, Its
pronounced”quotes". The comments in response are by the editor.))

ROY MATHESON. "I must take exception to your analysis of 1972z, which was published in the
most recent issue of your publication."

Y] dislike being called either bumbling or inept, however justified it may have been in
light of the circumst.nces in the game in question. As you pointed out, you have the benefit
of "20«20 hindsight'" and I can see neither justification nor worth in your comments. It is
an easy thing to criticize in an instance such as this ==I could point out that several mis-
sed moves and "bumbling" play led to defeat in this and other similar games which [ might
have followed and I am certainly not an expert on the game of Diplomacy

"Certain factors were lacking in your analysis. 1 was a total novice, and, in the early
stages had little idea of what really went on (this would explain the amazing fact that France
did not capture Spain until 1904 «- two game years)., You knew this as a fact and yet you ‘
failed to mention it, As "buwbling" as I may have been, I was certainly not dangerous to
Steve; I knew my limitations, as did he, and had no illusions of granduer,

"Finally, and rather separate from this, I fail to see where this type of commentary

is either encouraging or instructive to the novice. Perhaps you can enlighten me,"
‘4 &0 Tu %g T L" ‘q
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{((This next letter is by Dave
Tant, and i{s reprinted from Ethil
THe Frog (second cycle) #11, 13
Nov 1977, The reply is from the
editor, John Piggott. Subs are
avajlable fromC,F. Von Metzke, at
11/$5 for surface mail)))

I can see nothing wrong with
your campaigns against the Lev-
jathan(((a british zine))crowd, or
anyone else for that matter., If
they don't like it, they can al-
ways launch a counter campaigne

Indeed, the following may be

of interest to you, as it concerns

your other betenoire, Cormorant.
1 was originally inveigled into
subbing to Albatross to make the
7th player in their first game.
This proceeded rather slowly,
mainly due to GMing

errors by Paul Humphreys, and issue 11
contained the moves for Spring 1905, again
with mistakes.
In issue 12, printed now by Ian Lee
(who calls himself variously 'Kaiser' or
'Strutter'!) Paul Cook (England) resigned
in disgust; Steve Howe (Turkey), Richard
Lonsdale (Italy), Jeremy Jones {France)
and rvself (Russia) all pointed ocut the
rmistakes. I also wrote to say I proposed
chucking the game in, and received a reply
from ian Lee asking me to give him a chance
to show that the game could be run properly.
For Cormorant 1 {Albatross 13) I sent
in omders for all my units to stand, and
said I would give Ian a chance. That issue,
however, printed: "This game 1is now
scrapred, with Italy as the declared
winners (sic). I had no moves from Jeremy
Jones and Steve Howe, and Dave Tant sent

some but they were all units stand, So
Richard lonsdale wins, Paul Cook is black-
listed, Dave Tant is in 1leu as a special
case but Jeremy and Steve must step into
D game or lose thelr deposits as well."

Jeremy and Steve did not start in D
game and have, I imaglne, stopped subbing.
That was the first NMR for either of them
in the game - and 1it's strange that Ian
should not have orders on file for them if
they pointed out the Spring '05 mistakes.

Anyway, I wrote to protest, saying
that 1t should at least be a four-way or
two-way draw if he insisted on closing it
'down, and that I was bringing the circum-
stances to Mick Bullock's notice so that
it shouldn't go into his records.

My reward was a very long reply which
attacked me, the NGC and Mick, and saying
(and now we come to the real point!) that
he had never sought Boardman numbers, did
not intend to do so in the future, and did
not want his games going into any
statistics. They were his games and no-
one else was to interfere, I told him I
felt he should make this stand known to
his subbers, but this he has failed to do.
(I wonder if the potential winners of his
other games realize that their GM does not
wantithe results included in the ratings!)

I see you have been attacked in one or
two quarters for suggesting that games be
removed from one zine and allotted else-
where. It seems to me that (if all the
players in the game agree) there is nothing
the GM can do about it if they all start
sending their orders somewhere else. They
are obviously unlikely to get their
deposits back, but perhaps the new GM will
accept a lower game-fee, Indeed, would
you be willing to accept Albatross Actaeon
if the other surviving players were
willing? And for how much?

(( Many people would say that anyone
signing up for a game in Albatross/Crummy
deserves everything he gets, but I think
even those who knew about Paul Humphreys
already would have had difficulty predicting

depressing thought, but the first issue of
Albatross was undoubtedly the best; it's
gone steadily downhill since then, if only
because it's been getting longer, and the
advent of Ian Lee as editor was a hiccup
hardly perceptible amid the general decline,
(( Lee’'s attitude seems to be one of
'sod the players, they don't matter';
certainly no reputable GM would declare a

game over in such a summary fashion., Did
he even consult Richard Lonsdale, the
player who was ‘awarded’ the 'win'? It

seems not, for a subsequent issue of
Cormorant features a letter from him,
protesting that as he didn't deserve the
win he'd rather not have it! (Apparently
Lee has now changed his mind, and is
calling Actaeon a four-way draw. It seems
he has still not consulted the players).
It is also very unusual for a player to
be blacklisted by the GM because he sent
orders for his units that were not to the
7M's 1iking - I presume the words "Dave
Tant is in lieu as a special case" means
he 1is blacklisted, for it is not at all
clear. Bad GMing goes with bad English,
it seems.

(( Lee is powerless to prevent his games
going into the records, in fact; Mick
Bullock assigns Boardman numbers without
being asked, and ratingsmasters include
what games they like when calculating the
ratings - at the moment, all British
ratingsmasters rely on Mick to supply them
with results. Players who don't want
their game results going into ratings will
presumably ignore such lists when they
appear, but the GM has no jurisdiction
whatever in this matter. It's clear why
the Crummy crowd don’'t like ratings, of
course - a glance at the player records
in New Statsman reveals straight zilches
for Humphreys and Lee in the wins column!)

{((As Ian Lee seems incapable of running
his games properly, I would be quite
willing to take Actaeon over and complete
it 1f all the players agree. No game fee,
of course, though I'd expect the players
to maintain subscriptions to Ethil. Mind

the results of his all-too-brief (and much- you, I doubt very much whether you will

too-long) publishing career. It's a

get unanimity! ))

({If you hd wanted me to take into consideration the fact that you were a novice, you had

vour chance when [ asked for comments on the game.

1 don't believe I ever got any from you.

While I was going over the game I looked only at the positions of the units on my maps --
for all I Knew or cared then France might have been played by Edi Birsan(((A very ex-
In point of fact, most GMs will not allow a person to play

perienced and sucessful player,
under an alias

without the GM being notified, and some not even then))).

((I am very sorry if I offended you in calling the French play bum!ling, though I cannot find
where you allege [ call it inept,
((The purpose of that commentary was three-fold--lst, to provide a rough outline of the game
from the GMs point of view from beginning to end, for my personal satisfaction (they are "my"
games) and to give others a point of view outside the game itself, 2nd, to chronicle the game
for those who might be interested in it but have not had achance to follow it ==- the purpose
of all the comments, not just my own, and 3rd, to point out the various errors made by people
(in my estimation) where they blew their chinces of winning or maximizing their performance,
so that others might learn a lesson from them (the stalemate positions of StP and Por, the
effect of not being decisive in seizing upon weaknesses, etc),
are instructive to novices, as they provide "real life" situations which articles on tactics
rarely do ( and who likes to read tactics articles that much anyway?).

((You were '"dangerous'" to Steve in that you might miss a crucial move on some future occase
sion as you had before, or not see a critical position, etc == not that you were going to
attack him! Allies who do these things are dangerous, believe me, I know!))

((Finally, I thank you very

much for your comments,

1 am sure that these errors

Obviously, this was my first

commentary that I had ever written and you have taught me some lessons which won't be fore-

gotten.

didn't take into account everything about anyone being a novice player,

I realized I might be offending some people when [ wrote it, though, as [ said, I

Usually, if I play

a game in which I am fairly good at(chess, tennis.e.s) I'll be the first to agree with some=
one who points out a stupid mistake of mine, and perhaps this tendency of mine led me too

much astray, Sigh))
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The following comes from from Taetracuspid #17, 10/29/76 and is written by its editor,
Richard Kovalcik, Jr, Rm 205, Bexley Hall, 50 Mass Ave, Cambridge, Mass 02139, As of this
moment, Tetracuspid has not been published in several months))).

GREG WARDEN IS A THIEF

Yes, that's right. I said Greg Warden is a thief. A while back I
was in a Diplomacy game in En Passant, 1975CA. Greg Warden removed
me from this game for no reason at all, didn't tell me anything,
and kept the deposit I paid him to enter the game. The facts are
as follow:

(1) On January 22nd, 1976 I recelveduhn Passant, # 71 from Greg
Warden. This.is the last issue of En Passant which I ever received.
(2) On February 9th, 1976 I talked with Greg Warden over the phone
for about 3 minutes to give him my orders for 1975CA. To the best
of my knowledge this is the last time I heard from Greg Warden.

(3) On May 22nd, 1976 I sent Greg Warden a short note asking him
what was going on. I never received a reply.

(4) On June 1l6th, 1976 I sent him another note by Certied Mail
asking what was going on. At this time I thought that he had
dropped out of the hobby. Based on this I offered to heln Greg
Warden in anyway I would as Games Compensation Officer of THE
DIPLOMACY ASSOCIATION.

(5) Over the July 4th weekend I determined by talking to other
Diplomacy players in New York Clty that Greg Warden was still
publishing.

(6) I then proceeded to obtain xeroxes of the pages:of Fn Passant
since # 71 which concerned 1975CA.

(7) After receiving thses xeroxes it became apparent to me that
Greg Warden probally arbitrally dropped me from 1975CA and stole
my deposit.

(8) On August 15th, 1976 I sent Greg Warden another letter by
Certified Mail which read as follows:

Dear Greq,

I have recently learned that you have been publishing since
February when I last heard from you. I would like to know why I
have not heard from you since then and why I was apparently
dropped from 1975CA in which I played Turkey.

I hope that this matter can be satisfactually worked out as I feel
that being arbitrarily dropped from a game by its gamesmaster is

a very serious matter. Your prompt reply would be greatly ap-
preciated. :

/signed/ Richard Kovalcik, Jr.

(9) Since that time I have not heard from ‘him.

At this point I feel that my only course of action is to expose
the facts to the Diplomacy hobby at large to see if I can get

Greg Warden to say something about this matter which he has failed
to do up to now. A copy of this issue will be sent to Greg

Warden by certified mail. I hope that he will have the decency to
answer me. Until this matter is cleared up I urge everyone to be
very careful in dealing with Greg Warden as I feel that he may
decide to rip you off. Why he did this to me I have no idea. If
you'd like proof that what I say happened really happened please
send me an SSAE with 24¢ postage on it and I'll send you xeroxes
of my three lettersto him and the two return receipts for the last
two letters, D

PRy,



-

In fact, the last one is that not uncommon, and ] have seen others ask their players not

to put orders on the same sheet as personal letters, And [ suppose that there may be
someone who shares Tony's views on the Winter'has"list (Altho this could provide an inter-
esting problem., Suppose that an entire country's units were omitted, and the player didn't
mention this, relying instead on the Fall pogitions, Would his entire country vanish?
Suppose the GM didn't bother, listing only the Winter builds and removals . Would the game
end right there?), Had these three rules been in the HR's for a zine ] was considering
playing in, that certainly would not dissuade from playing., What Tony has done that is unfair
and unprincipled is to hold a player to a rule that he has no way of knowing about, and to
penalize him and the game for breaking it. Indeed, in the second dispute I had every reason
to think that there was nothing wrong with the practice. I say "“and the game'" because its
not just me, When Tony NMR's me in 190l the entire game suffers,

what is most galling of all is that Tony sees nothing wrong with this holding of a per-
son to a rule that he does not know of, and said so on the phone, Or in issue #38 he just
states that I've been removed, He doesn't add '"because [ have a rule that {f you resign
from one game you must résign from them all", This hobby doesn’t need secret rules, If a
player is in mary games and suddenly finds that he can't handle that many, he may decide to
resign from some, but not alle That is not uncommon, But you can't do that in Ruritania,
and you aren't even told of that fact,

I might add that these are not the only problems with the games in Rurttania, Adjudica-
tion errors are rampant, and along with lost moves were the major causes for game delays.
fven his error corrections were frequently mistaken, or missed errors. Illegible repro
has consistantly been a problem, Altho #39 was pretty decent, the problem recurred in #40,
Plus the games have been afflicted with a staggering dropout rate. While this is not nec-
cosarily the GM's fault, I believe that in Ruritania‘'s case he is greatly responsibles.

Game 1376 ED was just plain abandoned in 1902, I could go on, but its depressing.

That should be enough, Tony Watson will receive a copy of this issue and will have the
right of reply if he so desires, Also, as a majority of the players in 1975IJ and 1977FH
are subbers here, they, and anyone else for that matter, may send in their comments if they

want, [ must have this material by March 21, 1978 if you want it printed,
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One of the most intensely villified DipPersonalities was Gordon Anderson, and [ had no
trouble finding material in this vein. What follows is from The Pocket Armenian #27, 2-21=764
and was presumably written by its editor, Scott Rosenberg, It shares some things in common
with other villifications, in that it quotes another person, and takes pot=-shots at others,

It is entitled "THE GORDON ANDERSON MATTER ONCE AGAIN",

Gordon Anderson, the well-known hobby personage, now sufficiently notorious to be
called a menace, is launching one of his sporadic crusades again. He cleims that the 1375
IDs Elections were rigged against him--when in fact there was a deliberate effort made to
help him by accepting his nomination late; that he gave Rllan Calhomer the prize money for
the DipCon and he, Anderson, is not responsible for it any more--when Calhamer deénies this,
and stated at the start of the tourney that he was in no way connected with the financial end
of the affair; that I am not qualified to be IDA Editor--when if hLe had checked the recently
paessed Amendment to the Constitution he would note that, under thesc circuvmstances, I AM
e}lglbleg tgat Viking Systems‘did not give Mike Rocamora a bouinced check Jor his 1974
ﬁ;FCop wlnn;pgs—-when elpher VS.or Andersgn did indeed; that Edi Birzan rerfuses to prcvidce

2 with copies of Council Courier--when in fact Anderson has not renewed his supply of stam-
ped self-addressed cnvelopes that he must have to get it; and so forth.

In shor?, Gordon Anderson is a liar. I would not make such an accusation without being
pretty certain of the ground I stand on. But no matter how hard I try to sympathize with him
and try to look at things from his point of view, I can reach 1o other conclusion.

Anderson's recent outburst is nothing new; Lod W..lker recently wrote the following in
EREBVON, before Anderson's recent rumblings.

"ilthough our hobby is composed primarily of independent players =nd piblishcrs (we car
igrore Besh's little squad of flunkies), cooperation is the nam: of the ram: if w2 are to
accomplish anpything worthwhile. That is why I have been so down on Besh; he reguires suh-

servience and unguestioning accolades, absolutel ntrarily to the spiri it e
Pest interest of the hobby% ; . Yy co rily to the spirit, tradltlon%, \nd’

2)




 "But Besh is notthe olny fly in the ointment. Gordon Anderson,is, if anything, even
worse, Over the ‘past year, he has: . .

i+ Attempted to silence critics by threatening bogus lawsuits. - ]

2. Attempted to make himself Editor of the IDA illegally using threats and lies to
undermine the vote of 75% of the membership. _ ) )

"3. Attempted (with partial success, alas) to create a persopal and private powex e

pire within the IDA without standing election (which he knew he could rot win) by bullying
himself into several appointive positiocns.

"4. Defaulted on any number of obligations, financial and otherwise, in connection with
Dipcons VII and VIII. : ' ' » - -

"5. Spread lies and false accusations against many prominent and hard-working hobby
members--esyecially Edi Birsan and John Boyer. »

"6. TFalsely claimed he had trademarked a hobby institution, "DipCon" (or was about to
trademark it), in an attempt to foil legitimete and widely suplorted plans to begin moving
the Cons around to other locations. o

"Fred Davis, whose common sense and perception are uncanny in matters of determining who
in the hobby are basically bad news, has cancelled his trade agreement with Anderson because
of his ugly behavior within the hobby. I have now followed suit. It seems to me that Ander i
son has been given more than sufficient opportunity to cease his orgy of self-seeking, anti- [

social, hatemongering behavicr. There is 'no cause to encourage him further. I urge all
prublishers to cease trading with EL CONCUISTADCR. This protest may evoke a response in
which he will begin contributiog more positively to ‘the hobby. If so, well and good; if
not, --well, what reason is there to continue to give any sort of support to someone who
combines all the worst features of John Beshara and Charlie Reinsel?- Why feed the hand that
bites you?" ’

Rod is right; ond Anderscon has simply further cconvinced me of his extreme oudity.

Anderson's case will yrobably be reviewed by the IDA Judicial committee, where Anderson
himself has said he wants his case tried. I think it will be interesting to note how socn
he will forget the fact that he brought the case there, if the JudComm renders a decision
unfavorable to him. 1R
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Mark L Berch
492 Naylor Place
Alexandria, va 22304
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